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Foreword




The story of Keith Watson is, at its heart, one of a young man growing up, accelerated by the challenges and adversities of war. It follows Keith’s path to become a Royal Australian Air Force pilot in the elite Path Finder Force in Bomber Command during World War II.


However, the story is less about what Keith does in the war, although there is plenty of that, and more about how he deals with everything his young mind must confront. The thread throughout is one of character, personal integrity, wrestling with emotions, and struggling to make difficult choices. He is young and impressionable, struggling along the journey from a raw recruit into a highly trained professional, while facing the demands of war placed upon him.


As the Commander of the RAAF’s Air Combat Group, I am charged with guiding and developing the young men and women of our Air Force who are ready to take their modern high-technology combat aircraft into any potential conflict that Australia may be engaged in. As such, I am all too aware of the challenges, be they professional, technological, personal, or emotional, faced by the current day aviator. There are obvious parallels between those under my command today and Keith Watson, however, the similarities end when one recalls that Keith faced these challenges every day in combat and in the face of likely death.


In looking for a way to capture the essence of this book, and indeed Keith himself, I was drawn to the RAAF’s motto of ‘Per ardua ad astra’—‘through struggle to the stars’. In so many ways this sums up our ethos, values and traditions as an Air Force. Our achievements and our proud history have never come easily or cheaply, but amid the struggle, we have never set limits on what we could achieve and we have never rested on our laurels.




This is where Keith Watson represents us all. He is the ordinary, everyday Australian who chooses to give his all in the service of his country.


Throughout Keith’s story there are also the many family, friends and colleagues who helped steer Keith’s growth as a person. Their sacrificial acts for Keith, their helping him through his own ‘struggle to the stars’, reminds us just how much individual success depends on the collective efforts of the many.


The author, a cousin of Keith, was given complete access to Keith’s lengthy wartime daily diary, letters and other writings, allowing us as readers to follow Keith’s development as each challenge arises. It’s a story told with candour, humour, compassion and insight.


Keith’s story might have a backdrop of service in the RAAF and a world war, but essentially it is a human-interest story with universal themes and as such deserves the widest possible readership. Whether you are in the armed services or not, this is a book which deserves your attention. I thoroughly recommend it to every reader.


Tim Alsop
Air Commodore
Commander Air Combat Group
Royal Australian Air Force 
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Introduction




This is an account of the wartime life of Flight Lieutenant Keith Watson, a man who enlisted in the RAAF as a teenage postal clerk from central Queensland, rising to becoming an elite Pathfinder pilot, flying Lancasters with 5 Group, Bomber Command. It is a deeply personal account, made possible by an extraordinarily lengthy diary Keith kept of his daily life.


This is a story about character: an exploration of the essential elements necessary to achieve the pinnacle as a wartime pilot. In part it is about discipline, dedication and determination, the things which turn a rookie flyer into a highly professional pilot. It is also about humanity and humility, a core inner drive to see and seek the best in others, to forge a team to achieve the best results, and to prefer the needs of others above your own. There are complexities as the thoroughly normal young lad grows up while negotiating the thoroughly abnormal challenges of war. It is a story about choices amid those challenges, and about endeavouring to give of your very best when serving your country.


Keith’s early life in country Queensland sets the scene for his RAAF service. Pre-eminent are the influences shaping Keith’s character, especially his father, because these lay the foundation for his success as a pilot. It is a story grounded in early 20th century social history with some amusing, and at times shocking, anecdotes about a restless lad adept at testing parental boundaries.


Keith’s air service training is covered extensively, detailing the unrelenting demands and challenges in progressing from Tiger Moth rookie to Lancaster skipper. Here he first confronts the almost constant threat of death and injury, challenges authority, learns to skipper a crew, forges mateships and wrestles with growing from boy to man.




Keith’s time on active duty centres on his detailed personal accounts, especially regarding enemy encounters, confronting mechanical and equipment failures, forging a high performance Pathfinder crew, Pathfinder roles and tactics, escapades, his personal ambitions, and the physical and psychological toll.


This is counterbalanced by stories of Keith on leave, particularly his relationship with several UK families, providing insight into their lives and times. Their sacrificial support of Keith is a crucial aspect of grasping the broader humanity of his story. Woven throughout are the strong women who played a crucial role in carrying Keith through the war. There is also his love of the land and nature, and a running gag about his poor choice in cars.


As the war’s end approaches, Keith faces returning to ‘normal life’ and losing everything the war has given him. He enters a ‘survivor vacuum’ in post-war England which produces, in some respects, a mental turmoil as challenging as the war itself.


Throughout the narrative are the intertwined love stories: Keith’s long-distance relationship with Norah, whom he met when training in Canada, and his unadulterated, passionate love of flying. On return home he will be forced to choose between them.
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My initial window into Keith Watson’s life was a picture from the family archives of a handsome young RAAF officer, one of my mother’s cousins. Having a lifelong love of military history, I wanted to know more.


It led to a phone call to Keith’s elder son, Ken, who had a vast array of material accumulated by his father. He first sent Keith’s wartime diary. It was so long I realised Ken was testing to see if I had the mettle to get through it before sending anything else. I devoured it, an astounding 804 pages across five volumes.


My initial questions have been repeated by many others since. How did Keith manage to write such a diary when such things were

 not permitted in Bomber Command? Where did he find the time to write so much?


After my excited response, capped off with a request for permission to research and write Keith’s wartime story, Ken plied me with box after box of material – a myriad of letters (nearly 100 by Keith himself), documents, certificates, photos, records of interviews, reflections, wartime navigation maps, pieces of memorabilia and his flying logbook. Keith, and then Ken, had kept everything.


I was hooked on the intensely private story of one airman’s wartime life in all its facets. I say ‘intensely private’ because Keith wrote the diary just for himself; he never intended it to see the light of day. Recognising this meant treading carefully. On several occasions I had to weigh up whether a part of the diary I deemed essential to the story crossed over into an invasion of Keith’s privacy.


The centrality of the diary dictated this was a story to be told ‘from the inside out’ rather than my ‘looking in’; I would do the research and write the book, but Keith would tell the story – his story. This necessitated reaching a point where I could hear Keith’s voice. It took just over twelve months. I recall saying to Tom Baskerville, whose father, Alan, was a mate of Keith’s, ‘I set out to get inside Keith’s head and now I can’t get him out of mine.’ At that point, I realised I had a level of insight into Keith extending far beyond the assembly of facts. It also changed the arc of the narrative and the emphases within it.


I had begun my research with some perfectly legitimate questions. Why did Keith enlist? What did he do in the war? To what extent was he like other veterans? How did the air force take a teenage lad – a postal clerk – and turn him into a Lancaster skipper?


However, once Keith was firmly lodged in my head, his story posed more enriching and challenging questions, leading me to read his diary and letters with much greater insight. How important was Keith’s character to his success as a Lancaster pilot and ultimately a Pathfinder, and how was that character tested during training and then on operations? How did his early life, and particularly the influence of his parents, forge that character and shape his outlook on life? Keith took his Methodist faith to war. How did that fare?




What does it mean to ‘grow up’ from boy to man in the context of war? How does a young mind confront constant death and injury, including the loss of best friends, and still stay sane? When chances of survival on active service are risible, from where and from whom do you draw strength in order to continue? What happens when the intensity and regimentation of war suddenly stops? Is it enough to have survived? Why do many veterans return from gruelling wartime encounters bearing the physical and psychological scars but confess later that their war years were the best of their lives?


How does the human spirit triumph in war? What are the attitudes and actions, the large sacrifices and the small kindnesses, and the values and beliefs that ultimately rise above the death and destruction to offer hope?


Finally, how is it possible to forge and then sustain a long-distance, long-term relationship in wartime?


Given the size of Keith’s wartime collection, let alone what I was discovering in my research, a principal task was deciding what to leave out to allow him to emerge. The magnitude of the challenge reminded me of a likely apocryphal story about Michelangelo. When asked how he managed to produce the statue of David, his answer was simple: ‘Remove everything from the block of marble that should not be there.’ Easy for Michelangelo to say.


How well did I remove all that ‘should not be there’ so Keith could tell the story of his wartime years? In doing so, how well did I address the questions I felt his story posed? Unfortunately Keith is no longer here to ask. So it falls to each reader to make that determination.


Ian Campbell
Brisbane, June 2021
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General Note




Being about a young man growing up in war, and covering eternal subjects such as love, death, trauma, religion, family and mateship, this book is intended for a wider audience than just those interested in military aviation history. Consequently, an attempt has been made to keep air force terminology to a minimum, though at times it is essential for understanding and authenticity. A number of ‘helps’ have been provided:


• The Glossary covers the acronyms, aircraft, equipment, techniques, ranks, Pathfinder roles, weather and slang used in the book. As far as possible, explanations are nontechnical. It is a handy ready reference.


• Appendices include Keith’s training and operational squadrons and bases, his operations on active duty, and his Lancaster crew, including a summary of their roles.


Not every aspect of, or event in, Keith’s wartime life could be covered. Despite this resulting in many ‘minor’ people being excluded, there are still a significant number who remain. Some are more important than others, including Keith’s family, his mates, his crew and the UK families who took him in. Every effort has been made to ensure they can be identified and followed through the narrative, but a list of the key characters has also been provided prior to the first chapter.


Several maps provide a visual overview of Keith’s bases in England, the locations of the UK families he stayed with, and the operations he flew.


Keith’s diary occupies a central role in the narrative. Most entries are either placed in quotation marks or indented though not endnoted like the other sources quoted. If you see a quote without an endnote, it’s from the diary.




In keeping with the times, all measurements – weights, distances, speeds – are in imperial not metric. Keith developed a shorthand for writing times in his diary which has been preserved. For example, ‘8a’ is ‘8.00 am’ and ‘830p’ is ‘8.30 pm’.






Key Characters




You will encounter many people in the book. There are, however, a few key characters who anchor the narrative. They are grouped here as a prelude to the story but also as a ready reference.


Keith’s Family


Wilf and Evy – Keith’s parents


The Watsons are a large family, and names from multiple generations are mentioned, but it is Keith’s parents who are of greatest importance to the story. A select family tree is at Appendix 1.


Norah Melton – Keith’s Canadian girlfriend


Keith’s Closest Friends


William Desmond ‘Ned’ Kelly – starting with Keith at Initial Training School, RAAF Sandgate, he is Keith’s first and very best wartime mate


David Sandell – meets Keith on his arrival at Brighton, England


Ken Robertson – meets Keith at the Operational Training Unit, RAF Upper Heyford, and then serves with him at No 97 Squadron as a fellow Pathfinder


Keith’s Other Mates


The book mentions many people Keith befriended through training and then on operations. Some became really good mates:




Ewen ‘Hughie’ Jones – started with Keith at the Elementary Flying Training School (EFTS), RAAF Narromine


Dudley ‘Dud’ Wham – also started with Keith at EFTS


Forbes ‘Port’ Porter – also started with Keith at EFTS


Alan Baskerville – trained with Keith at the Advanced Flying Unit, RAF Southrop


Harry Thoms – flew with Keith during Beam Approach Training, RAF Cranage


Ricky Dyson – Ned Kelly’s rear gunner


Ivy Hart – transport driver at the Operational Training Unit, RAF Upper Heyford


Tommy Noon – a fellow Aussie pilot at No 97 Squadron


Keith’s Lancaster Crew


Keith’s crew underwent early changes, but was stable thereafter.


The following lists their ranks at the end of the war:


Flight Lieutenant Keith Watson – Pilot and Skipper (Australian)


Flying Officer Bill Kelley – Navigator (English)


Flying Officer Alan Noble – Air Bomber/Bomb Aimer (English)


Flight Lieutenant Ray Rolfe – Wireless Operator (New Zealander)


Sergeant Len Wilman – Flight Engineer (English)


Flight Sergeant Chas Milford – Mid-upper Gunner (English)


Flight Sergeant Eddie Clarson – Rear Gunner (English)


(See Appendix 4 for role descriptions.)




UK Families


Belton and Sandtoft:


Bill and Ada Gibson, and eight-year-old daughter Marion – Belton


George and Gertie Rusling, and nephew Don – Belton


Nellie Wilkes – Belton


Godfrey and Jessie Hurst, and eight-year-old daughter Shirley – Sandtoft Grange


Coningsby:


Gilbert and Winifred Blackburn


Barbara Blackburn – their daughter-in-law (also one of Keith’s good mates)


Peterborough:


Bill and Becky Gardam, and children


London:


Sid and May Lowrie, and daughter Betty – Pinner


Violet and Robert Stevens, and daughter-in-law Joan – Croydon


Kirkcudbright, Scotland:


Rev John (Jack) and Eleanor Mothersill






Maps 
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Part I


FORMATION OF CHARACTER






1








The Storyteller




It was January 2004 and Keith Watson had two months to live.


He was being driven north to Burrum Heads with his wife Norah by their daughter Sharon for the annual gathering of the clan. By his own estimation he had been holidaying there for 79 years, except during his wartime service. Given his frailty and the advanced state of his cancer, he seemed surprisingly exuberant and happy, making frequent exclamations about the beauty of the countryside. It reflected his lifelong love of nature, undoubtedly enhanced by the liberal dosage of morphine.


He and Norah would not be staying in the unit at the caravan park as usual, but at one of the several holiday houses the extended family rented throughout the beachside town. The family would gather at ‘Yearenda’ in Dudley Street, a stone’s throw from Keith’s beloved beach and just around the corner from ‘Travie’, his father’s old beachside home, long lived in by his younger brother Don and wife Joyce.


At ‘Yearenda’, Keith lounged on the verandah soaking up the scenery. Through the eucalypts with the chattering lorikeets he could see across the cul-de-sac to the white sandy beach, its gently lapping waves long since tamed by Fraser Island. The family was coming and going about him. He was tiring easily, but when the energy came he used it to talk. And what he most wanted to talk about was the war.


This had been an emerging pattern. Four years earlier, after being diagnosed with cancer, Keith took little prompting from his eldest son, Ken, to pour forth recollections of the war years. Unprepared for what he had unleashed, Ken had grabbed the nearest scrap paper and started writing page after page of barely legible script, reflecting the pace at which his father’s memories were arriving. Don and Joyce also

 recalled that sense of urgency once Keith knew his time was limited. When with them at ‘Travie’, the war stories would come, spilling everywhere in no discernible order.


In Keith’s final year, as the melanoma metastasized, his chatter had become incessant and repetitive. ‘Sometimes he would reach a point which somehow sent him back to the beginning of the story so he did never ending loops,’ recalled daughter Wendy.


Out on the verandah, Keith’s granddaughter, Gerowyn, about to spend a year overseas and sensing strongly that her beloved Gramps would not be around on her return, sat down with a voice recorder and asked him about his life.


Now, in just over two hours, the storyteller told his granddaughter the story of his life. Other family members would periodically pull up a chair to sit and listen. He talked about the Watsons’ long historical relationship with Burrum Heads, his childhood holidays there, and growing up around Queensland. Names came and went, a blur of relatives and family friends, all making their historical imprint by doing something or other. His place in history would be found first within the context of his forebears and their place on the land.


But what Keith gave more time to than anything else was the war. He had met Gerowyn’s Nan when in Canada doing flying training. It took him half an hour to tell the story of their meeting and falling in love, intermingled with memories of Camp Borden, flying high jinks, and graduating as a pilot officer, top of his class. He was especially proud of that. Nan had been there too, watching him lead the Wings Parade.


There was the flying test on the Miles Master at RAF Hullavington in mid-1943 when he still thought he was destined to be a fighter pilot. Fifteen minutes of extraordinary detail: magnetos, flying controls, the Master’s horsepower, doing spins and stalls and rolls, the artificial horizon, flying under the hood, and messing up the landing. ‘Put undercarriage down, quarter flap, cross wind, half flap, line up with runway, full flap and then control rate of descent with the throttle.’ It was a lousy landing, bouncing twice, but the instructor had been impressed with his performance. They had still sent him to Bomber Command.




Keith’s mind skipped elsewhere, pausing occasionally as he gathered his thoughts. It was that operation on the night of 19/20 October 1944 to Nuremburg.


So my flight engineer, who used to sit beside me in the plane, he said, “Skipper, when we put our markers down ... our flares down,” – we used to have to lay a line of thirteen parachute flares across the target to illuminate it – he said, “after that do you mind if I go down in the bomb aimer’s compartment,” – we never used to have a bomb aimer because the Pathfinders carried markers – he said, “do you mind if I go down there and lie down and watch the rest of the marking and the start of the bombing?” So I said, “No, that’ll be right, Len. If I need you, I’ll give you a call, you come straight back.”


They were on reserve, circling the target until the Master Bomber was satisfied the target had been marked satisfactorily. Two crew members complained about how cold the cabin had become and he directed Ray, his wireless operator, to fiddle with the wheel controlling the temperature. It was on as far as it could go. Keith, himself, was now feeling uncomfortably cold so Ray tried yet again without effect. The Master Bomber now declared the target marking spot on. Immediately they dived off the target and headed for home. Len returned from the bomb aimer’s compartment.


So I watched him climb up the two stairs ... onto the flight deck ... And he reached out and put his hand onto his seat to drag himself up. And suddenly I saw his mouth open in fright and his eyes shone white in the half light. I could see he had had a terrible fright. And I pulled off my mask ... and I leaned across and shouted out, “What’s wrong?” He pointed to his feet and when I looked across there was a hole about five inches across right through his seat. An anti-aircraft shell had come up through the bottom of the bomber, up through the floorboards, through the middle of his seat and out through the roof. And this was where all this cold air was coming from. We should 

 have all been killed ... It would have blown the front of the bomber right off ... killed the whole lot of us.


It was just one of many episodes on that gruelling night. And that night was just one of many operations with their extraordinary array of hair-raising encounters, challenges and achievements.


When he had finished, Gerowyn turned off the recorder having secured the priceless treasure of her Gramp’s voice telling his own story.


How could Keith recall these wartime memories with such clarity? Some stories, his favourites, had been told and re-told over the years, keeping them fresh in his mind, albeit occasionally askew on detail. Besides, no stories of such life-and-death drama would, indeed could, be forgotten easily. But there was something else.
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Two months later, Keith passed away. Family members gathered once again, this time at his Southport home, to deal with his possessions. In the walk-in-robe, Ken discovered Keith’s extensive and minutely-detailed wartime diary contained in five volumes and over 800 pages.


Keith’s entire wartime journey was there: from the Tiger Moth to the Avro Lancaster; his love of flying; his Canadian girl; the mates; the UK families who offered him a home and kept him ‘grounded’; the landscapes and the travel; the losses and the grieving; all his operations; air force life; his youthful dreams and fears; and the recognition, status and privileges that came with being an RAAF Lancaster pilot, especially an elite Pathfinder.


The detail was breathtaking, having been written mostly on a daily basis, including immediately after operations when the adrenaline continued to pump and he could not sleep.


It was evident from their battered condition that he had opened the volumes many times. They were dogeared, the linen over the spines was falling away, the glue breaking off in flakes and the pages 

 detaching from the covers. He had written to the edge of each page, so words on the margins were smudged in places from the regular page turning.


Keith had never mentioned the diary to Ken, though Sharon clearly recalled seeing the volumes with some letters in the old wooden ammunition box under the house in the early 1960s. Then nothing. No one knows when he had put them close at hand in the walk-inrobe. Had he been prompted by that cancer diagnosis and its attendant sense of urgency?


Despite his prodigious recall, memories had faded at the edges or melded into one another. With select stories being told and retold, others had been forgotten or set aside. The diary had served to refresh everything, providing irrefutable evidence of exactly what had happened and when. But it was more than that; it had enabled Keith to return to that other world, that other time, when he was forced to live life to the full, constantly in the shadow of death. There had been nothing like those times in the decades that followed.


In that familiar shadow of death once more, Keith desperately wanted his family to know and appreciate his wartime service. With the discovery of the diary, the story of his war could be told in more detail than even he had hoped for or imagined.
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Sam Hecker and the Gipsy Moth




In the early 1930s, when Keith Watson’s father was running the Post Office at Wondai, the family made their usual trip back to the ancestral stamping grounds at Burrum Heads on the Queensland coast for holidays. They were a boating, camping and fishing family, people of the beach. It was a generational love affair with that spot on the edge of the continent.


At nearby Toogoom, Keith, approaching his teenage years, found a wallet lying in the sand. Without doubt he had been attracted to that spot by the sound, then sight, of a pilot conducting joy flights off the beach in a biplane. It would have been quite a spectacle for the locals, especially at the height of the Great Depression. The lucky ones with a spare quid and a spirit of adventure saw the coast from on high, but the excitement was undoubtedly felt by those gathered below too.


Keith took the wallet home to his father, explaining he had found it ‘in the area of take-offs’. On opening it, they discovered its owner was none other than the pilot and Keith was dispatched to return it. The pilot, evidently sensing the keenness in the lad, offered him a free flight as a reward. Once airborne he ‘was hooked on being a pilot’. The love of flying had been planted.


Keith almost certainly knew nothing of the pilot or the plane, but they both had pedigree, providing a thoroughly Australian backstory to this seminal event in Keith’s life. 
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Locals record a young pilot, Sam Hecker, doing joy flights off the beach.1 He was a member of the Wide Bay and Burnett Aero Club, based at Maryborough, 25 miles south of Toogoom. Sam knew Charles Kingsford Smith, who had landed at his parents’ property at Temora on occasions when Sam was growing up, including when on his way to Canberra in The Southern Cross to be knighted. Kingsford Smith had flown in to Maryborough to become the patron of Sam’s club in 1932.


At just 21, Sam Hecker had taken the extraordinary step of buying a second-hand plane, one which had history. It was a de Havilland D.H.60G, a Gipsy Moth. It was May 1931 and he was not to gain his commercial pilot’s licence until February 1932.


Sam’s Moth and its former owner, P.G. (‘Bill’) Taylor of Sydney, were linked to two pieces of pioneering Australian aviation history.


Taylor was to achieve fame and an Empire Gallantry Medal by saving Kingsford Smith and The Southern Cross in an aborted flight across the Tasman in 1935. He climbed out onto the starboard wing strut to retrieve engine oil from the defunct starboard engine in preparation for an equally hazardous trip onto the other wing strut to replace oil streaming out of the port engine.2


It was in his Gipsy Moth, however, that he first made it into the public eye. On Saturday 28 February 1931, he was one of five members of the Australian Aero Club who flew over Sydney Harbour in formation to farewell a mate, Mr W.J. Hickey, who was sailing to England.


After accompanying the ship to Sydney Heads, three pilots headed back to Mascot, but Taylor and his friend, Mr R. Annabel, had other ideas. They flew back to the Sydney Harbour Bridge. It was under construction and the suspended road deck had recently been laid down. They circled until there was a break in the water traffic, then ‘dove down, passing below the bridge and within 10 feet of the water, apparently, to the great consternation of passing ferry passengers’.3


Unsurprisingly, it made the news. Captain V.W. Burgess of the Civil Aviation Department said they would investigate a complaint if one was made and pointed to the possibility of the Minister for Defence issuing new regulations if pilots started making a habit of it.4




Not long after, Taylor put his Moth on the market. By June 1931, Gipsy Moth VH-UIH was Sam’s. He took it to Temora and then on to Maryborough in 1932. He modified it, installing a cockpit canopy (only to remove the pilot’s section later because it impeded his view when landing), and called it ‘Diana’. From Maryborough aerodrome he would fly ‘Diana’ to the nearby coast and offer joy rides off the beach. Among those who gathered was a young Keith Watson.


Keith would have to wait until October 1942 before climbing into a cockpit again. It would be at the controls of the new and improved de Havilland D.H.82 Tiger Moth.


[image: ]


Sam Hecker and his Gipsy Moth ‘Diana’. (Diana Hecker collection)
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Enlistment




Enlistment was that wonderful place of naivety where hopes and dreams were yet to encounter reality.


In late 1945, Keith reflected on his motivations for enlisting. His 17th birthday fell three weeks after the outbreak of World War II. Too young; you had to be 18. He reached that milestone on 24 September 1940, during the Battle of Britain. He had spent a year enviously watching other ‘spirited and adventuresome lads’ joining up. The uniform spoke of world travel and patriotic fervour, though he would admit ‘the spirit of adventure for service overseas was preponderant over that of patriotism.’


The Battle of Britain impacted him deeply. ‘The handful of British fighter pilots who attacked the hordes of invaders and clawed them from the skies by the hundreds, decisively defeating them, won the gratitude and deep admiration of the British Empire and the Free World ... The fighter pilot became my hero and flying my dream.’1


Keith was working in the Biloela Post Office as a postal clerk on his 18th birthday. He applied for leave and was denied, being told to re-apply in six months. It was second time lucky and, with his parents’ permission, he headed for Brisbane to be interviewed and sit the examination.


I did the various speed, intelligence and application tests and felt I did reasonably well. I passed through my medical examinations, eyesight tests, blood test and x-ray checks and was classified as fit for all categories of aircrew.


Before enlisting I’d heard from a number of boys that if a fellow had a slow steady heartbeat he was ideally suited for pilot as he was supposed to be steady also in temperament and less excitable 

 than others. At the examination room I got a glimpse of a few of the other fellows’ medical records and found my heartbeat was considerably slower than theirs.


Having passed the various examinations, he was sworn in and issued with his reservist’s badge. ‘When I walked out into the city afterwards, I felt the proudest and happiest bloke alive ...’ It was around August 1941.


The process had not been straightforward, however. At his medical, the doctor’s attention was drawn to the livid, purple scar adorning his forehead and ascending through his hairline. Keith recounted the story of a diving accident. Assuming the damage was not all external, the doctor nearly ruled him unsuitable. Keith pleaded, the doctor softened and the resultant x-rays showed his skull was just fine. The doctor duly passed him fit, noting on the file: ‘Thinks he’s a bird. Reckless too. Suitable for the air force.’


Keith turned 19 shortly after. He had six months in Rockhampton as a Post Office telegraphist before his call up came through. The time passed quickly. All reservists faced a baptism of fire with the aircrew reserve study known as the 'Twenty-one Lessons'.2 The subject areas, taught by voluntary tutors, were ‘mathematics, basic physics and navigation’,3 with Morse code thrown in. Keith threw himself into the challenge. He found trigonometry, theory of flight and elementary navigation especially interesting. ‘I bought books on aircraft recognition and studied them, and every week attended the Morse code training class in East Street and assisted in teaching the boys.’


Right at the commencement of Keith’s air force career the first glimpses of his character emerge: a dogged determination, undeterred by significant challenges, studious to a fault, seeking to do more than is required and being prepared to help others. Was he motivated by the dream of becoming a fighter pilot? Or of travelling the world? Or showing his father there were fields beyond the narrow boundaries of his upbringing? Maybe it was all that.
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The Lad Who Went to War




The Rockhampton home Keith returned to after enlistment operated somewhat like the military machine he had just signed up with. At least that was his father’s intention.


Family life was a complex mix of personalities, traditions and beliefs, all superintended by Keith’s father, Wilf, a man variously described as dominant, charming and strict. He was thoroughly bureaucratic with a strong work ethic, a religious conservative who lived out his faith in the church choir and doing community service, a man who loved to fish and garden, and a loving disciplinarian who maintained his ‘rule of law’ in the house with a strap.


One cannot properly understand the teenage Keith who went to war without grasping the essence of his father, what drove him and what he sought to inculcate in his children. To know Wilf is to begin to know Keith because, while enlisting in the RAAF marked Keith’s first serious foray into the world outside of his father’s long shadow, he would carry a remarkable amount of his father in him.


It was a complex relationship, a complexity enhanced by Keith being temperamentally like his mother, Evy, an unassuming, introverted peacemaker, character traits he would also take with him to war.


The world of Wilfred Watson comprised several inherited, interwoven and ultimately irresistible influences – immersion in the land, the compulsions of family, the dominance of Methodism, and the routines and security of the Post Office.


Wilf was the eighth child of William and Elizabeth Watson, born at ‘Jesmond’ in December 1896, the family farm at Howard 

 in Queensland. It is impossible to overstate the importance of that land to the Watsons. William and his younger brother Thomas Jnr had arrived with their father and stepmother Mary in 1865 from Newcastle-on-Tyne. Thomas Snr had come to work in the local coalmines. Within a few short years he had purchased a freehold selection from the Crown, 127 acres of virgin country on the banks of the Burrum River. He called it ‘Jesmond’ after their home district in Newcastle, a tangible and lasting reminder of the past.


William and Thomas Jnr stayed on the property, marrying and having their own children, thus grafting the first three generations of Watsons onto this bit of the Aussie bush and so grounding a new family heritage.


Over 20 years, father and sons developed the property,1 building three houses, then outhouses, wells, fences and a stockyard. The family went beyond subsistence, providing cows and pigs for the butcher, eggs and fruit for the grocer and timber for the sawmill. They lived on the land and off it.


‘Jesmond’ was not the family’s only property. They had discovered Traviston (now called Burrum Heads) where they built a cottage for beachside holidays. It was connected with ‘Jesmond’ via two umbilical cords – the 17-mile journey by boat down the river or the 11-mile track by horse and cart. The first might take four hours on a good outgoing tide, but add an hour for the overland route, making Travie (as the family called both the place and their cottage) almost another world as far as the kids were concerned.


With everything in abundance, nothing was out of bounds. If it was in the air, Wilf and his brothers shot it with shotguns or rifles – ducks, geese, swans, curlews, even pigeons and parrots. If it was on the ground, the boys trapped it or shot it. If it was in the water, they fished for it, gathered it off the rocks, hauled it out of the riverbanks, chased it through the mangroves or, if positioned appropriately in one of the local creeks, shot it. There were regular feasts of fish, oysters, large mud crabs and octopus. Some birds took longer to cook than others. For medicinal purposes, they were all given a regular dose of dugong oil, extracted from carcasses hauled onto the beach and boiled down. 



It was the only blight on the bliss of holidays filled with day after day of edible entertainment.


They rowed and sailed and swam, watched and waited, hunted and played. They invented, built and fixed whatever they needed. Boredom was another country.


Wilf’s younger brother Charlie observed, ‘[Wilf] acquired a reputation that he could “fight like a threshing machine” if unduly provoked.’2 It was an accurate depiction. He was imposing and powerfully built.


The Watsons’ view of education was typical of the time. You attended school until ‘scholarship’ at the age of 14 and then got a job. School gave you the basics, anything beyond that was superfluous. With a large family, getting the kids off to work as soon as possible was a necessity. Wilf’s entry into the workforce came courtesy of his sister Elsie, the postmistress at Howard Post Office, who turned it into a ‘jobs nursery’ for her siblings.


In 1912, at age 15, Wilf was dispatched to Cambooya, more than 360 kilometres away, as a telegraph messenger boy. His father died suddenly in December that year, compounding the sense of distance and isolation. The Post Office would provide stability and continuity to his life as he began a peripatetic career up through the ranks across small town Queensland. During the Depression years, Wilf was postmaster at Wondai. By 1935, he and wife Evy, a Brebner from Hughenden, had seven children, the family making the annual pilgrimage to ‘Jesmond’ and Travie for holidays.


Being at Travie was where Wilf felt happiest, most relaxed and the least constrained, the holidays of his youth on annual replay with his own children. A love of that coastal strip would become integral to Keith’s sense of self too. He followed in his father’s footsteps.


‘Dad had a shotgun and pea rifle ... [and] we’d shoot the ducks sitting on the water ... Roast duck and duck stew.’ His mate Teddy joined them one holiday. They camped on an island in the river. Wilf shot some curlews and cooked up a stew, with leftovers for the morning. ‘Overnight, the flying foxes came in. The following

 morning when the stew was served up, Teddy said, “There’s hair in this.”’ A flying fox had fallen into the stew overnight.3
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Wilf Watson with six of his children at Travie (Burrum Heads) on the Hesperus, circa 1934. Keith is on the left. (Keith and Norah Watson family collection)


The Post Office was fundamentally important to Wilf’s sense of self, especially as postmaster. The country Post Office was central to town life. It was not just about letters and parcels. The first public phones were installed in Post Offices. Telegrams came and went. If anyone knew what was going on, it was the postmaster. It was a prominent position, not dissimilar to the bank manager or even the mayor – a large cod in a small estuary.


To Wilf, the Post Office was also a place of order, with its rules and regulations, forms and processes. The ‘wheels’ were greased by paperwork. It ran smoothly when everything was done right. As Wilf’s son Don would say, ‘There was a manual for everything from the audit procedures to how to operate the various machines.’4 Improvements were achieved incrementally; one should avoid rocking the administrative boat. Post Office management was about controlled, 

 obedient, detailed efficiency. Wilf was well regarded as a manager and his dedication led to auditing other regional Post Offices. He could be away for weeks.


One reason this Post Office career suited Wilf was that it dovetailed perfectly with the Watsons’ long history of adherence to the Methodist Church.5 John and Charles Wesley and their Holy Club back in the 1700s had been dubbed ‘Methodists’ because they believed in improving yourself and the world around you by living, as John himself put it, ‘according to the method laid down in the Bible’.6


Methodism was a faith and a way of life for the Watsons, penetrating their pores. By Wilf’s time, the essential spiritual practices consisted of grace at meals, a Bible reading at the dinner table, learning the Bible, singing hymns around the harmonium, and kneeling beside the bed at night to say your prayers. Sunday School and church were obligatory weekly outings. All these things were ‘disciplined’ into daily (and weekly) life, a foundation for one’s continued progress along the pathway of self-improvement towards a spiritual perfection. It was just a pity it did not come with any great sense of joy or freedom; less a set of principles to live by and more a set of rules to adhere to, strictly enforced. The great God of love was to be, above all things, feared.


The Methodist ‘package’ included avoiding the ‘social evils’ of drinking, gambling, smoking and swearing. There was no better way of putting Watson Methodist noses out of joint than indulging in one or more of these ‘evils’. It led to the occasional ‘excommunication’ with some family members escaping to the confines of the Presbyterians or the Brethren.


Abstinence was a form of witness. It was part of a broader commission for Watsons heading out into the world: that one’s life must always be an example to others – your morals, your behaviour and avoiding anything that might attract a charge of hypocrisy. One could not preach against the evils of drunkenness if caught having a beer.


For Wilf, working at the Post Office lined up neatly with Methodist practice. The Post Office had its own path to a kind of bureaucratic holiness. It began with doing everything by the 

 book. Rules and regulations handed down by higher authorities. Methods and processes evolved and practised, then adhered to strictly. Incremental changes undertaken only to achieve selfimprovement. When done at peak efficiency, it was a witness to the world. Beware innovation as it might lead you to stray from the safe path of received wisdom.


Where Wilf ran into trouble was seeing this fusion of Methodist and Post Office practice as suitable for raising a family of four girls and three boys, some of whom could well be described as rambunctious.
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Keith Alexander Watson, the future RAAF Pathfinder pilot, was born at Hughenden, 400 kilometres south-west of Townsville, on 24 September 1922. As the firstborn son, he carried the weight of family expectations, especially those of his father. This was accentuated by elder sister May’s hereditary illness which blighted her existence and, without suitable drugs, kept her at home throughout her life. Keith carried the torch for the family, not just as the first male but the first healthy child.


From the beginning Keith was more like his mother than his father. He was temperamentally calm and patient, also dutiful, gentle, respectful, dependable and loyal, though also energetic and restless. He was socially adept, though at heart an introvert. There was no aggression in him and, in the face of conflict, he would either play the peacemaker, as his mother did, or avoid the situation altogether should things appear intractable. With no aggression there were no grudges. Enlisting in the RAAF was not the result of simmering resentment at his upbringing but a means of escaping the powerful gravitational force of his father’s will.


That came in the form of his father’s authoritarian and detailed regime for family life, a command-and-control environment overseen by Wilf’s dominant presence. Don, Keith’s brother, paints a sharp 

 portrait of how Wilf drove family life. ‘Everything [at home] was done by the book, and Dad had books for everything. Everything had to be planned and done properly. Everything had to go by the timetable.’ Wilf operated in a ‘meticulous world’.7


Not only did the family revolve around Wilf when he was present, he held them accountable for the minutiae of their lives when he returned from being away. ‘All had to be reported to Dad.’


This whole self-reporting business did not get off to a good start for Keith who failed to turn up to dinner one night when the family was living at Jericho. When Wilf asked Keith’s sister May where he was, she replied, ‘Keithy’s in gaol.’
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The gaol at Jericho where Keith was incarcerated by Joe Herman. (Keith and Norah Watson family collection)


Constable Herman, sole charge of the Jericho Police Station, was away on business. His young son, Joe, seemingly destined to follow in his father’s footsteps, had come upon six-year-old Keith making 

 a nuisance of himself and locked him up. The ‘crime’ warranted a prison sentence extending past dinner time, leaving Joe, then Keith, to deal with the wrath of Wilf. Keith was already showing himself to be ‘adventurous’.8 It was only the start.


While Wilf laid down the law, the first line of enforcement fell to Keith’s mother, Evy, a diminutive, peace-loving woman with a flair for music and art, whose idea of corporal punishment was the reluctant use of a soft slipper. The two youngest boys, Don and Wilf Jnr, would fake tears on being hit and then giggle around the corner. It did not help that she was somewhat frail and lacked the energy to keep them all under control, and they knew it. In contrast to Wilf’s dominance, she was ‘almost in the background ... always there but not as pushy as Dad’.9


In a family of kids full of energy and making their own fun, it was inevitable Wilf’s boundaries would be crossed. The strap was in frequent use. Evy knew not to step in when punishment was being administered. When asked years later about his father’s fondness for corporal punishment, Keith simply replied, ‘I probably deserved it. I was a really naughty boy.’ Even if he questioned his father’s approach to discipline, he would never have said so.


Keith was not only restless and adventurous, he had a happy knack of being accident prone, sorely testing his father’s attempts at forbearance. Tellingly, he would repeat several stories in later life, exuding more a sense of pride than contrition.


There was the incident before he was five. Wearing a lovely silk suit his mother had made, he escaped his parents’ clutches at a friends’ place, climbed underneath the house, saw an old syrup tin, prized off the lid and proceeded to coat both the silk suit and the lining of his mouth with tar.


When somewhat older, he was again underneath a building, the Wondai Post Office. Directly above the floorboards, everything was functioning to peak efficiency under his father’s guiding hand. Attracted to a set of cables with tomahawk in hand, in one fell swoop he cut off both Post Office (including the telegraph exchange) and their home next door from the electricity grid and the outside world, 

 with the added bonus of leaving himself in the land of the living. Perhaps not, given that his father’s carefully ordered world had just come to an abrupt halt.


On another occasion, Keith was chopping wood when one of his sisters appeared. He boasted of his accuracy, inviting her to help him demonstrate it by putting her finger on the block. After a short flourish which left the top of her finger lying on the block, he would have to admit he had been a little overconfident.
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The Watson family at Wondai in 1936. Keith is on the right.
(Keith and Norah Watson family collection)


The story Keith most often repeated concerned the diving accident when he was twelve. It was at Wondai during the Depression. Most families had cows grazing near the Dingo Creek waterholes and the boys went to round them up each day for milking. On this occasion, the boys decided to strip off for a swim, despite the creek having recently flooded.




Wilf had drilled into Keith that you did not dive into water without first checking what lay beneath the surface. Keith swam around their favourite waterhole with the large overhanging branch and found nothing. He then set the standard for the day by doing a swan dive that ended with a submerged branch practically scalping him. It penetrated just above the left eyebrow and proceeded to tear across the forehead, narrowly failing to penetrate the skull. After being stunned and below the surface for some considerable time, he emerged gasping for air, a large flap of skin hanging loose, and blood and mud pouring down his face.


The horror of it all was too much for his mates who concluded ‘Watty’s dying’, grabbed their clothes and fled. If he lived, he would face the consequences on his own. That was the problem. Keith regarded Wilf as ‘pretty severe’ and was in complete fear of him, so he entertained Hobson’s choice of bleeding to death or facing his father.


He showed early signs of trademark Keith when faced with a crisis – quick thinking and a strategy. He would aim for Mum first. If he had to face death and his father, he would do so one at a time and in that order. Mum was strategically placed to help with the first and delay the second.


He was running full tilt for home without a stitch of clothing on when he realised he had to negotiate the main street of Wondai. For the postmaster’s elder son to create such a spectacle was quite simply unacceptable, so he beat a retreat back to the waterhole, pushed the skin flap into place as best he could, wrapped his head in his singlet, put on the rest of his clothes and retraced his steps.


His cunning plan fell at the first hurdle. He hurried through the front door, found his mother, laid some groundwork with ‘Mum, I’ve been a naughty boy’, then unwrapped his singlet. The bloodied skin flap fell over and she fainted. It was left to sister May to head next door to the Post Office and blurt out, ‘Dad, Dad, Keith’s dying. His head’s split open.’


By the time they reached the hospital, Keith was unconscious. His head was shaved, the wound cleaned out (mostly) and 22 double stitches inserted. It was some time before he went back to school. ‘My 

 father, who was chairman of the school committee, told the principal that if any of the school kids made fun of me, he (the principal) would be in trouble.’10


There were warnings of possible epileptic fits or blackouts. No problems eventuated until the livid purple scar threatened to derail his enlistment by drawing the attention of the RAAF doctor.


Keith’s fear of his father never went away. It reached new heights with the Teddy affair. Keith and his mate Teddy liked climbing trees to check out birds’ nests. On this particular occasion, Teddy was up a tree and had begun to peer into the nest when something startled him and he lost his footing. During the shambolic descent, he caught his boyhood on a broken branch before landing heavily on the ground. Both his pants and his scrotum were torn open, blood oozing everywhere. There were complications. Teddy’s father was the local reverend, so facing him was too embarrassing. That left the Watsons. Facing Wilf was impossible for different reasons.


With Teddy in shock, Keith took control. They would just have to handle this calamity themselves. He got Teddy home in secret, found a needle and thread, told his mate to keep his mouth shut whatever the pain levels and sutured up the wound. After smothering his handiwork with black Iodex, he applied a piece of sticking plaster and sent Teddy on his way. Only the torn trousers would have to be explained. Sometime later, they reconvened for Keith to remove the plaster, which he did and pronounced Teddy’s crown jewels ‘good as gold’. Faced with a crisis, he had turned into the master improviser and, on this occasion, he had succeeded magnificently.
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In 1936, he did an obligatory year at Maryborough Grammar School. In most subjects he was near the top of the class, though he certainly had greater aptitude for geography, algebra and geometry than languages. It was a telling combination given his future career in the RAAF.




The following year the dutiful son fell into line and followed his father into the Post Office. It does not appear he thought of doing anything else. Maybe it was the path of least resistance. After a short period as a telegraph messenger at Landsborough, he was brought back under his father’s control at Wondai before transferring with him to Rockhampton. He studied for his Senior Matriculation by correspondence and night school. To qualify for the position of postal clerk, he studied and mastered Morse code, typing and shorthand.
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Keith Watson, Post Office telegraph messenger, circa 1937.
(Keith and Norah Watson family collection)


He managed to break away in 1940 with a promotion to Biloela, a town 160 kilometres south of Rockhampton, and was there when he turned 18 and decided to enlist.




The RAAF would propel him out of his father’s orbit. He would ultimately be able to peer at his father’s world – small, distant – within the context of a much larger one where even greater forces were at play.


Despite his father’s bureaucratic rigidity and ‘fiercely disciplined’11 approach to both faith and family life, Keith headed off to war respecting his parents. He also went with some religious faith of his own. This may have come from his mother, with whom he was close. He certainly left home believing his mother’s prayers would keep him safe. He would keep his own prayers going according to Watson Methodist practice, along with abstaining from booze (mostly), gambling and swearing (mostly). Neither parent sat him down to advise on the subject of women; he would have to work that out for himself.


The family’s Methodism was not the only set of habitual practices Keith took with him; he had also inculcated his father’s belief in Post Office methods. You mastered your environment by being meticulous about the minutiae. Know your way around a manual. Absorb the procedures and processes, then practise until perfect. Perhaps Keith understood innately that conformity reduced the risk of something going wrong, whereas nonconformity produced significant negative consequences.


He would say years later that his parents had laid solid foundations, despite the complex relationship with his father: ‘I come from a Post Office family where the qualities of personal integrity, selfless loyalty, a dedication of oneself to service, and a pride and quality of work have ... been indelibly ingrained as ideals to be cherished, and valued above all ambitions, personal advancement in life, or monetary gain.’12 If that represented the outcome of an early life growing up under his father’s regime, he had actually done pretty well.


Keith did go to war with some fond memories of Wilf. ‘My father often told me the story of Robert the Bruce and the spider, watching it climb up the web only to fall down again until its persistence won and Bruce got the message, “Try again and succeed”. He always hammered at me the message of persistence and the rhyme, “If at 

 first you don’t succeed, try, try and try again.”’13 It engendered a belief success was more a product of determination, constant selfimprovement and character than natural giftedness.


Yet Wilf and Keith were not particularly close. Keith was never going to receive affection from his father. What Keith craved, however, was affirmation. He wanted some sense he was meeting expectations, rather than feeling that no matter how hard he strived and how much he achieved, his father expected more. He probably realised that would never happen. He would have to try to find a sense of self independently. It did not stop him trying to impress his father after enlisting.


He never spoke of his father’s response on announcing his intention to enlist. No doubt Evy found it extremely difficult, but would not have had a say. Perversely, Keith might have hoped Wilf would object, an overt demonstration of how much he cared. Perhaps he did, but signed the papers knowing his son could not be dissuaded. Keith was free to go, as free as any 18-year-old can be when heading out into the world dragging their upbringing behind them.


Keith received his call up in April 1942. He was now swept up into an Imperial war machine that would take the rookie Queenslander and transform him into a highly trained professional before dispatching him to fight the Third Reich.
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Part II


FROM ROOKIE PILOT TO PROFESSIONAL
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The Empire Air Training Scheme




Keith’s journey from enlistment to operational duty over Europe came courtesy of a vast enterprise known as the Empire Air Training Scheme (EATS).1 What follows offers context for understanding Keith’s path from rookie pilot to arrival on active duty.2


In broad terms, the British determined in 1939 they required 20,000 pilots and 30,000 other aircrew over three years, of which nearly 60 per cent would be supplied by the Dominions. Australia signed on to ‘a 4-weekly output of 432 pilots, 226 observers and 392 wireless-operator-air gunners, all to be available for service with the RAF ...'3


Significantly for Keith, it was agreed many trainee pilots would do their elementary flying training in Australia before proceeding to Canada for the next stage, at the end of which they would receive their pilot’s Wings if they graduated.4


Article XV of the EATS agreement provided for the Dominions to establish their own squadrons within the RAF, ostensibly crewed with and under the command of their own. In practice, Dominion aircrew went wherever the RAF determined they were needed. By 1944, aircrew like Keith hoped to go on operational duty in Australian squadrons, but the likelihood was not high.5 Besides, the Australian squadrons would themselves evolve into multinational hybrids.


Under EATS, Dominion aircrew would wear their own uniforms and badges. RAAF aircrew could be identified among their RAF counterparts, thus ensuring their national identity was on display.




Assigning Dominion aircrew to RAF squadrons periodically generated a clash of cultures (military and social) which went to expectations of behaviour, adherence to protocols and approaches to discipline. The Australian egalitarian streak was always going to strike heavy weather, as Keith would find out once he reached England, but by and large everyone got along, leaving fights over empire and national identity to the politicians and the military hierarchy.


Kevin Bending illustrates delightfully the cultural clash in his history of No 97 Squadron, Keith’s ultimate destination. In March 1945, Wing Commander Mason, who apparently ‘liked to hold court each morning’ with his captains, expressed concern at the ‘sloppy, disrespectful demeanour’ among aircrew on base. He suggested his audience raise standards by ensuring they were saluted. Having secured general agreement, Mason suggested they set a good example by saluting him as their superior, to which one of the Australians replied, ‘Pig’s arse, Jock, we don’t want to salute you!’6


At face value, it seems incongruous that recruits undertaking their EATS training in mid-to-late 1942 – right in the middle of the Kokoda campaign – would end up on active duty in Europe. General MacArthur had arrived in July 1942 to set up his headquarters in downtown Brisbane less than two months after Keith commenced initial training there. Such was empire: your country paid for you to go and fight (and for many, give your life) for Britain while the Americans came to fight for Australia.


Yet many trainees still desired to serve in Europe. ‘Part of the explanation for their preference is that they wanted to travel to the other side of the world, fly the most advanced aircraft, operate from established airfields near cities, and fight where the air war was most significant, at least in their eyes. But it is also true that while the Australians who grew up in the 1930s were consciously, even aggressively, Australian, they were British in a way difficult to understand by Australians born two or three generations later.’7


Additionally, the air war heroes who many recruits wanted to emulate were all from the European sphere, either from World War I or, more recently, the Battle of Britain. Hailing from Queensland, now 

 in the front line of Australia’s defence against Japan, Keith certainly fitted the mould, admitting to patriotism being further down his list of motivations.


[image: ]


‘EATS aircrew trainees received the longest, most arduous and exacting training ever given to any volunteer force.’8


The training path for pilots was particularly gruelling. Most recruits dreamt of becoming pilots, especially fighter pilots, but relatively few were selected for pilot training, and fewer still would graduate and be awarded their Wings. On reaching England there was still a long road before pilots were declared operationally ready.


EATS provided six different types of training schools. All recruits began at the Initial Training School (ITS), undertaking physical training and preliminary aviation studies to determine which aircrew role they were best suited to, if suited at all. They were then sorted into those to train as pilots, while the rest were posted to other specialist schools to become navigators, wireless operators, bomb aimers and air gunners.
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